No. S267138

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, *Plaintiff and Respondent*,

v.

MONICA MARIE MARTINEZ ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H046164 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1518585 The Honorable Socrates Manoukian, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

A longstanding regulation promulgated by the California Department of Insurance provides:

No bail licensee shall, for any purpose, directly or indirectly, enter into an arrangement of any kind or have any understanding with a law enforcement officer, newspaper employee, messenger service or any of its employees, a trusty in a jail, any other person incarcerated in a jail, or with any other persons, to inform or notify any licensee (except in direct answer to a question relating to the public records concerning a specific person named by the licensees in the request for information), directly or indirectly, of:

- (a) The existence of a criminal complaint;
- (b) The fact of an arrest; or
- (c) The fact that an arrest of any person is impending or contemplated.
- (d) Any information pertaining to the matters set forth in (a) to (c) hereof or the persons involved therein.

(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2076.)

On March 17, 2021, this Court granted review on its own motion, directing that the "issue to be briefed and argued is limited to the following: Did the Court of Appeal correctly declare California Code of Regulations, title 10, section 2076, unconstitutional on its face?"¹

¹ Unless otherwise noted, all further citations to regulations are to title 10 of the California Code of Regulations.

INTRODUCTION

For nearly 80 years, California has comprehensively regulated the bail bond industry. Regulations promulgated by the Department of Insurance foster transparency and fair dealing, barring practices that breed corruption and give unscrupulous bail businesses unfair advantages over their competitors to the detriment of incarcerated arrestees and their families. One longstanding regulation—on the books since 1941—prohibits licensed bail agents from entering into arrangements with jail inmates, police officers, and jail officials, among others, to provide insider information about new arrestees booked into jail.

The regulation—section 2076—forces bail businesses to compete with one another based on price and quality of services, rather than market-circumventing tactics that rely on insiders to provide tips about potential new customers. Without such regulation, jail officials, inmates, and other insiders could sell nonpublic information about new arrests and bookings to the highest bidder. And with that inside information, a bail agent could immediately reach out to solicit the new arrestee's business before any competitors have an opportunity to do so. Insidertipping arrangements thus hinder fair competition in the bail bond industry and, in certain circumstances—particularly those involving arrangements with jail inmates or officials—interfere with the operations of, and have a corrupting influence on, public institutions.

In the early 20th century, such corrupt and anticompetitive practices flourished in the industry. The Nation's first

commercial bail bond business, for example, locked up a monopoly in San Francisco by paying off legions of insiders, including law enforcement officers, to alert it as soon as a new person was arrested and booked into jail. And the firm's monopoly profits fueled rampant criminality and bribery that eventually sparked a crisis in public trust of local government and the criminal justice system. The Insurance Commissioner responded by promulgating a comprehensive set of industry regulations, including the predecessor to section 2076.

In the decision below, the Court of Appeal held section 2076 invalid under the First Amendment—not only as applied to defendant, but in all applications, requiring "[f]acial invalidation." (Opinion 32.) The court's decision was grounded in its skepticism that the regulation "advances the state's substantial interests." (Opn. 30-31.)

That was error. The only portion of the regulation at issue in this case is its prohibition of bail bond agents' insider-tipping arrangements with "person[s] incarcerated in a jail." (§ 2076.) In considering that application of the regulation, the Court should focus on the legitimate *penological* interests that section 2076 reasonably furthers. While section 2076's principal overarching purpose is to guard against unfair and corrupt practices in the bail bond industry, state regulators could have also rationally determined that the regulation helps to promote sound, secure jail management. That is sufficient to satisfy the form of rational basis review that governs the constitutionality of restrictions on communications with jail inmates. And no other applications of

section 2076 are properly presented. Absent special considerations not relevant here, courts do not entertain challenges to hypothetical applications of a statute or regulation.

Even if the Court were inclined to apply heighted constitutional scrutiny to section 2076's bar on insider-tipping arrangements with jail inmates—or to examine additional applications of the regulation not at issue in this case—there would be no basis to invalidate the regulation. As demonstrated by the historical record, recent investigation and enforcement efforts, and simple common sense, section 2076 advances important government interests in all or substantially all applications—and is certainly not invalid in so many applications as to render it facially invalid. Beyond its direct promotion of fair competition in the bail industry, the regulation prevents disruption of jail administration, eliminates sources of public corruption and conflicts of interest, and helps to preserve the integrity of the criminal justice system in the eyes of the public.

The Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's facial invalidation of section 2076, restoring to full operation a regulation that has well served important government interests for nearly eight decades.

LEGAL BACKGROUND

The Bail Bond Regulatory Act of 1937 and its 1941-issued implementing regulations were designed to regulate and reform an early 20th century bail bond industry rife with corruption and anticompetitive practices. Those regulations, including section 2076, remain on the books in substantially similar form today.²

A. Corruption and unfair competition in California's early commercial bail industry

An "arrestee's release pending trial is often conditioned on whether the arrestee can make bail." (*In re Humphrey* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 135, 142.) "To do so, an arrestee posts security—in the form of cash, property, or (more often) a commercial bail bond" which may be "forfeited if the arrestee later fails to appear in court." (*Ibid.*) Commercial bail bond agents profit on such bonds by, among other things, charging defendants a fee called a bail premium (today, "typically 10 percent of the value of the bond").

² While there appear to be few legislative history materials from enactment of the 1937 legislation, newspaper articles and other historical materials from the period "may be considered in ascertaining . . . legislative intent" and in assessing the constitutionality of the statute and its implementing regulations. (*Carmack v. Reynolds* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 844, 850, internal quotation marks omitted; see, e.g., *Kasler v. Lockyer* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 472, 483-487 [reviewing newspaper articles revealing impetus for enactment of California's Assault Weapons Control Act after the superior court sustained a demurrer to a complaint challenging the statute's constitutionality]; see generally *Cabral v. Ralphs Grocery Co.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 764, 775, fn. 5 [discussing background materials that "appellate courts routinely consider" when "interpreting, explaining and forming the law"].)

(Pretrial Detention Reform Workgroup, Pretrial Detention Reform: Recommendations to the Chief Justice (Oct. 2017) p. 30 <https://www.courts. ca.gov/documents/PDRReport-20171023.pdf> [as of June 29, 2021].)³

Though the concept of bail has centuries-old roots (see, e.g., 4 Blackstone's Commentaries 293-297), the rise of the for-profit bail bond industry is a relatively recent development. Before the late 1800s, a family member or a friend would typically act as a surety, "provid[ing] a pledge guaranteeing an accused would appear in court." (Baughman, The Bail Book: A Comprehensive Look at Bail in America's Criminal Justice System (2018) p. 164.) The surety would then get his bail money "back from the court when the accused appeared for his court date." (*Id.* at pp. 164-165.) "Only when America expanded and there was an absence of extended family and friends did the accused have difficulty finding people to put up bail money." (*Id.* at p. 165.) Recognizing a profit-making opportunity, certain businessmen in the late-19th century began to ask: "Why not charge a fee for the[] service" of "putting up bail money"? (Bauer, *Inside the Wild*,

³ Historically, the term "bail" has referred to the "temporary release of a person awaiting trial for a crime." (Baughman, The Bail Book: A Comprehensive Look at Bail in America's Criminal Justice System (2018) p. 1.) Today, it is more commonly used to refer specifically to "the money or security a person accused of a crime is required to provide to the court in order to be released from custody." (Pretrial Detention Reform: Recommendations to the Chief Justice, *supra*, p. 9.) This brief generally uses that modern understanding of the term.

Shadowy, and Highly Lucrative Bail Industry (May-June 2014) Mother Jones.)⁴

In particular, two San Francisco brothers established what is widely considered the first for-profit bail bond business in the United States. (See Baughman, *supra*, p. 165.) McDonough Brothers Bail Bond Brokers was initially "founded as a saloon," blocks away from the city's Hall of Justice. (The Old Lady Moves On (Aug. 18, 1941) Time, at p. 67.)⁵ It "became a popular" watering spot for the city's legal professionals." (Barnes, "Fountainhead of Corruption": Peter P. McDonough, Boss of San Francisco's Underworld (1979) 58 Cal. History 142, 145.)⁶ The owner's two sons, Peter and Thomas McDonough, began lending money to help the saloon's attorney clientele bail their clients out of jail. (*Ibid.*) When the brothers "learned that the lawyers were charging their clients for these bonds, they began charging too." (The Old Lady Moves On, supra, p. 67.) Eventually, they "ripped out the bar, dealt solely in bail bonds," and "became . . . millionaire[s]." (*Ibid*.)

McDonough Brothers soon "monopolized the bail bond business in San Francisco." (Barnes, *supra*, p. 145.) "[A] remarkable network of informants . . . provided [the firm] with

⁴ Available at <https://www.motherjones.com/politics/ 2014/06/bail-bond-prison-industry/> (as of June 29, 2021).

⁵ Available at <http://content.time.com/time/subscriber/ article/0,33009,802159,00.html> (as of June 29, 2021).

⁶ Available at <https://www.jstor.org/stable/25157907> (as of June 29, 2021).

information about the needs of prospective clients." (*Id.* at p. 146.) "Policemen of all ranks," for example, "could be seen visiting the McDonough office every day." (*Ibid.*) "Booking sergeants reportedly provided daily lists of who had been arrested, the charges, and the bail set." (*Ibid.*) It was "even discovered at one point that a system of wirelesses connected the city prison, outlying jails, and the McDonough office." (*Ibid.*) With these advance inside tips about recent arrests, McDonough Brothers could move more quickly than any would-be competitors to solicit a new arrestee's business (see *ibid.*) and start making arrangements to "return[] the McDonough client to freedom" (*ibid.*). A "call to McDonough Brothers" became "obligatory for anyone accused of criminal activity in San Francisco." (*Ibid.*)

The success of the McDonoughs' operation also "brought [the firm] into contact with people engaged in every branch of underworld activity." (Barnes, *supra*, p. 146.) "Gradually, McDonough Brothers became an agency which could provide [criminals] protection *from* arrest as well as protection *after* arrest." (*Ibid.*, italics added.) Drawing on its vast network of connections, for example, McDonough Brothers began bribing police officers to provide tips about raids on illegal prostitution and gambling businesses—information the firm then conveyed, for a fee, to those businesses so that they could prepare for the raid. (See, e.g., *Records Show Bail Monopoly McDonough Aim*, S.F. Examiner (May 25, 1937) p. 6.) McDonough Brothers also used its enormous wealth to expand into, and effectively take control of, the city's vice trades—investments the firm protected by paying off public officials to "turn[] a blind eye." (DiEdoardo, Lanza's Mob: The Mafia and San Francisco (2016) p. 40; see also *id.* at pp. 38-39; Barnes, *supra*, pp. 147-149.) By the Prohibition Era, McDonough Brothers' "control over San Francisco vice—and through it, the police and the mayor and the board of supervisors"—was virtually unchallenged. (DiEdoardo, *supra*, p. 38.) "Tammany never ran New York City as completely as the McDonoughs ran the right to break the law in San Francisco." (Barnes, *supra*, p. 147, internal quotation marks omitted.)

In 1937, an investigation into citywide corruption concluded in a widely publicized report—called the "Atherton Report," after the lead investigator, Edwin Atherton—that McDonough Brothers operated as a "fountainhead of corruption, willing to interest itself in almost any matter designed to defeat or circumvent the law." (*Report to the 1937 Grand Jury on Graft in San Francisco*, reprinted in S.F. Chronicle (Mar. 17, 1937) p. F2, col. 3 (Atherton Report).)⁷ Not content with "develop[ing] a virtual 'corner' on the bail bonds business" by "'freez[ing] out'

⁷ For additional background on the investigation and report, see, e.g., *San Francisco Graft Inquiry Ensnares District Attorney*, L.A. Times (Mar. 27, 1937) p. 1; *Accused Assail Atherton: Report Called All Lies*, S.F. Chronicle (Mar. 17, 1937) p. 1; *Prober Unmasks: Edwin N. Atherton Is Man Investigating Police*, S.F. Examiner (Feb. 8, 1936) p. 4; *Police Graft Will Be Sifted Thoroughly*, S.F. Chronicle (Sept. 24, 1935) p. 28. The Atherton report is also available online at https://archive.org/ details/AthertonReportText. (as of June 29, 2021). To access the online version of the report, make sure to include the period (".") at the end of the hyperlink, following "/AthertonReportText."

what little competition [was] left" (Atherton Report, *supra*, p. F2, col. 4), McDonough Brothers also took pains to ensure that "[n]o one [could] conduct a prostitution or gambling enterprise in San Francisco without" the firm's approval (*id.* at p. F2, col. 3). And the firm significantly contributed to the \$1 million or more in bribes and kickbacks annually collected by police officers across the city. (See *id.* at pp. F2, col. 3-5, F4, col. 1, F6, col. 6.) "[S]hock[ing] [to] people who were individually facing economic oblivion" in the midst of the Great Depression (Barnes, *supra*, p. 152), the Atherton report prompted "public outrage" and calls for reform—including passage of legislation regulating the bail bond industry. (*Ibid.*; see, e.g., *Bail Bond Regulation Demanded*, S.F. Chronicle (July 1, 1937) p. 5.)

B. The Bail Bond Regulatory Act of 1937 and its implementing regulations

One "concrete result[]" of the 1937 report was enactment of the Bail Bond Regulatory Act. (*The Old Lady Moves On, supra*, p. 68.)⁸ The act took "direct aim" at the anticompetitive and

⁸ The Legislature originally enacted two statutes regulating the bail industry—one addressing bail agents who secure an arrestee's release with cash or property (Stats. 1937, ch. 653, pp. 1797-1800), and another regulating agents who secure release using surety bonds, the most common commercial bail service today (Stats. 1937, ch. 654, pp. 1800-1804; see Pretrial Detention Reform: Recommendations to the Chief Justice, *supra*, pp. 29-31, 108; *Governor Gets Bill to Curb Bail Brokers*, S.F. Examiner (May 26, 1937) p. 8). In 1939, the Legislature merged the two acts. (See Stats. 1939, ch. 361, § 28, p. 1700.) Because the differences between the two original acts are immaterial here, the People refer to a single "act" for simplicity. (Cf. Dept. of (continued...)

corrupt practices that the report had disclosed, as well as McDonough-like practices among certain Southern California bail businesses.⁹ Specifically, the act imposed licensing requirements on the bail bond industry for the first time, giving the Insurance Commissioner broad authority to deny a license to, or revoke a license from, anyone deemed not "fit or proper" to work in the industry. (Ins. Code, § 1806.) It also authorized the Commissioner to promulgate rules necessary "for the administration and enforcement" of the act (*id.*, § 1812), and made the "violation of any . . . provision of [the act], or of any rule of the commissioner made pursuant thereto" subject to criminal prosecution (*id.*, § 1814). The "purpose [of the act]," as explained by the Insurance Commissioner's Office at the time, "is to provide the highest possible class of agents and solicitors in the bail bond

(...continued)

⁹ Bills to End McDonough's Rule Signed, S.F. Examiner (July 3, 1937) p. 1; see also *ibid*. (noting that "sponsors of the bill asserted" that the legislation "is calculated to put Pete McDonough out of the bail bond business"); Bail Broker Control Bill in Assembly, Oakland Tribune (Mar. 30, 1937) p. 5 (reporting that the bill's principal author told a committee that, "in some instances brought to his attention," "policemen had notified bondsmen of arrests," giving them an opportunity to "visit prisoners" in jail and solicit business before their competitors learned of the arrests); Bail Brokers Are Rapped As Bill Wins Okeh, Sacramento Bee (Mar. 30, 1937) p. 13 (similar).

Insurance, *Bail Bonds* <http://www.insurance.ca.gov/01consumers/170-bail-bonds/> [as of June 29, 2021] [discussing enactment of the "Bail Bond Regulatory Act in 1937"].)

business." (Anti Bail Bond Proposal, S.F. Examiner (Apr. 5, 1937) p. 2.)

In the first few years of the act's operation, the Insurance Commissioner's Office held a series of licensing hearings, providing it with insight into anticompetitive and corrupt practices then-prevalent across the State's bail bond industry. The Commissioner, for example, conducted a "sweeping investigation" of over 120 bail bond agents in Southern California. (Bail Bondsmen Facing Inquiry, L.A. Times (June 25, 1941) p. 3.) "[I]nvestigators found," among other things, that information about arrestees in need of bail "leaked from members of the Police Department." (*Ibid.*) As a result, "the same clique of bondsmen" was able to get the lion's share of the business and charge "exorbitant bond fees" to arrestees who thought they had no other option. (Ibid.; see also Bail Bondsmen Activities Probed, San Pedro News-Pilot (June 24, 1941) p. 2 [similar].) The Commissioner also considered Peter McDonough's application to continue in the bail business. After hearing evidence echoing and expanding on the 1937 Atherton Report's findings, the Commissioner denied his application—and then denied it a second and third time when McDonough repeatedly reapplied. (See McDonough v. Goodcell (1939) 13 Cal.2d 741, 753 [upholding one of the denials].)¹⁰

¹⁰ See also *State Again Denies McDonough License; Reputation Blasted*, S.F. Examiner (May 8, 1941) pp. 1-2; Barnes, *supra*, p. 152.

In December 1941, based on the experience of investigating and uncovering "pretty rotten practices" across the industry (Bail Bondsmen Activities Probed, supra, p. 2), the Insurance Commissioner issued a set of 48 regulations to "eradicate[]" any "form of racket . . . from the bail bond business in [the] State" (MacDonald, 48 Stringent Rules Set Up By Caminetti, S.F. Chronicle (Dec. 8, 1941) p. 21). Those regulations, which remain on the books in substantially similar form today (§ 2064 et seq.), barred bail licensees from, among other things: permitting unlicensed persons (such as jail inmates, police officers, and jail officials) to solicit or negotiate on behalf of a bail bond business (§ 2068); soliciting bail in jails and courthouses (§ 2074); and charging any rates or fees different from those disclosed in filed rate schedules (§§ 2081-2082, 2094 et seq; see also Dept. of Insurance, Ruling No. 21 (Dec. 1, 1941) ¶¶ 19, 27, 35-36 [included as an attachment to this brief, see *post*, pp. 66-75].)

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