IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S267138

THE PEOPLE,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

MONICA MARIE MARTINEZ, Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal of California Sixth District No. H046164

Superior Court of California Santa Clara County No. C1518585 Hon. Socrates Manoukian

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

John Mark Rorabaugh (SBN # 178366) Law Office of John Rorabaugh 801 Parkcenter Dr., Ste 205 Santa Ana, CA 92705 (714) 617-9600 fax: (714) 644-9986

fax: (714) 644-9986 baillaw@usa.net

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant Monica Marie Martinez

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED ENTITIES OR PERSONS

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

Summary of Argument

CCR 2076 is invalid because its restrictions on a bail licensee having an arrangement or understanding to receive information about a public fact, the arrest of a person by the State, totally and fatally conflicts with the constitutional protections granted by both the United States and California constitutional free speech provisions. Section 2076 criminalizes the free communication about important public facts, the Government's actions in arresting and detaining persons. Being able to communicate such important public facts is an important public right. Bail licensees are restricted by other statutes and regulations that prevent the payment of compensation for soliciting, and limit the time place manner, and persons that they may conduct bail solicitations. Penal Code 160, CCR sections 2068, 2079, 2079.1, 2080, People v. Dolezal (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 167.

The avoidance financial penalties associated with commercial bail provides an additional incentive for the defendant's family to ensure the appearance of the defendant in court. It is this incentive that provides the historical basis for the secured release of an arrestee. (AOB 20). The bail forfeiture penalties align the interests of the defendant's social circle with the interests of the People in conducting a fair criminal process. The prompt

communication about the fact of an arrest to those who can secure an arrestee's release, is important to all stakeholders in the criminal justice system.

Bail agents have long formed the backbone of California's fugitive recovery system. Cnty. of Los Angeles v. Am. Contractors Indem. Co. (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 661 ["Given the limited resources of law enforcement agencies, it is bail bond companies, as a practical matter, who are most involved in looking for fugitives from justice."] It is the relationship formed by the posting of a bail bond with a monetary penalty that provides the incentive for the defendant's friends and family to cooperate with bail agents in returning fugitives to court. California has long relied upon this alignment of interests to provide the pretrial system for its most difficult cases.

As recently recognized by the New York Supreme Court in *People v. Johnston* (N.Y. City Ct. 2020) 67 Misc. 3d 267 the monetary penalties of bail are often the least restrictive condition that a trial court can impose to release a defendant from custody.

Criminalizing the acquisition of the knowledge of the fact of an arrest, or the contemplation of an imminent arrest, cannot be justified as a restriction on mere commercial speech. The First Amendment restricts the government's power to restrict free expression especially of important "public facts." The arrest and detention by the State of a person is the type of fact that the public and each of the parties listen in CCR section 2076 have a right to hear. Mere economic interest in a public communication does not make such communication commercial speech.

CCR section 2076 is not "quintessential commercial speech" because it does not propose a commercial transaction, but merely

provides "identification of people with imminent bail needs." (dis .4) Therefore the communications prohibited by 2076 are not those of a commercial transaction, but a mere identification of potential clients who are being detained by the State and may wish to be released on bail. The People, and the dissent fail to point to any authority that the identification of potential clients, especially with public information, can be criminalized by the government as a restriction on commercial free speech. Moreover no direct communication between the bail licensee and any potential client is required to violate section 2076, as the crime occurs when and agreement or understanding is made, in order to identify potential clients.

Nor can the penological interests of a jail justify the criminalization of the dissemination of the fact that a person has been detained by the government, to a bail licensee. The People rely on cases restricting convicted felony inmates. Pretrial detainees are not subject to this enhanced power of the State

Criminalizing an understanding or agreement to obtain a "public fact" from an uncompensated intermediary has never been justified under any of the commercial speech, or penological supervision cases relied on by the People.

The People's justifications of prohibiting what they describe as "insider tipping arrangements" are not furthered by the restrictions of CCR 2076, because sections 2076's necessary elements do not include the payment of compensation, or the necessity of the information being secret, confidential, or non-public. There is nothing in the text or justifications provided by the People that would allow the saving of the restrictions of CCR 2076 by restricting the scope of its application.

The People fail to establish any "commercial harms" that are prevented by CCR section 2076. The People cite "unfair competition" between bail licensees, but rely on nonexistent elements such as compensation or "nonpublic" or "insider" information that are simply not present in CCR section 2076. The People fail to justify how a bail licensee's receipt of public information and conducting legal solicitations with this public information is unfair.

Commercial bail provides the most common, and the fastest means of release from the State's custody. *In re Humphrey* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 135, 276 Cal. Rptr. 3d 232, 237. The Government cannot criminalize the communication of such vital public importance to a bail licensee, the class of persons most likely to secure the release of a person from the custody of the state. [The disadvantages to remaining incarcerated pending resolution of criminal charges are immense and profound.] *Id.* at p. 241

Even if there is an advantage to a bail licensee who first discovers that the State has arrested a person, it is not unfair. Bail licensees have the same rights to discuss "public facts" as any other member of the public. Arranging the fastest secured release of arrestees is the job of a bail licensee. In the often used ambulance chasing metaphor the bail licensee is the ambulance. It is the bail licensees duty to find family and or friends to secure the release of the defendant to the custody of the surety. Like a delay in calling an ambulance causes additional harm to the paitent, the delays caused by the criminalization of the communication of the public fact of an arrest delays the release of persons from pretrial detention, therby extending the harms of pretrial detention.

The People have not identified when the arrest of a person by the State is "nonpublic", "insider" or otherwise confidential. Even if there were some period of time that an arrest of a person was somehow confidential, that confidentiality could not exist once the person is booked into custody, because the People have a duty to disclose such booking. The People have failed to explain how a communication by an inmate of the detention of another inmate can ever be "nonpublic" "insider" or confidential.

Even if CCR section 2076 is considered commercial speech, the public nature of the truthful facts communicated are inexorably intertwined with the public purpose of the communication of the fact of an arrest.

The People's attempt to justify criminalizing communications between an arrestee and a co-arrestee intermediary, as a tool of penological supervision is particularly chilling. This justification exposes the many problems that occur by criminalizing the transfer of knowledge of the fact of an arrest to those who could provide security for the arrestee's release. The cases relied upon by the People apply to prisoners who have been convicted, while 2076 applies to pretrial arrestees. The State does not have the same powers to control arrestees that it does to control convicted inmates. The States invocation of its supervisory powers to limit the communication of information about the fact of an arrest has chilling echoes of secret arrests.

Argument

I. Section 2076 is a facially invalid content-based restriction on the free speech rights guaranteed by the United States and California Constitutions.

The Appellant Court correctly found that CCR 2076 is a content-based regulation on its face because "... it targets a bail licensee's arrangement or understanding with another to pass specified information to any bail licensee." (opn 19)

"The First Amendment of the United States Constitution provides in part that "Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech. . . . " (U.S. Const., 1st Amend..) "Although by its terms this provision limits only Congress, the United States Supreme Court has held that the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause makes the freedom of speech provision operate to limit the authority of state and local governments as well. [Citation.]" (Kasky v. Nike, Inc. (2002) 27 Cal.4th 939, 951 [119 Cal.Rptr.2d 296, 45 P.3d 243] (Kasky).) Article 1, section 2, subdivision (a) of the California Constitution states: "Every person may freely speak, write and publish his or her sentiments on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of this right. A law may not restrain or abridge liberty of speech or press." (Cal. Const. art. I, § 2, subd. (a).) "The state Constitution's free speech provision is 'at least as broad' as [citation] and in some ways is broader than [citations] the comparable provision of the federal Constitution's First Amendment." (Kasky, supra, 27) Cal.4th at pp. 958–959; see Gerawan Farming, Inc. v. Lyons

(2000) 24 Cal.4th 468, 490 [101 Cal.Rptr.2d 470, 12 P.3d 720] (
Gerawan I).)" Baba v. Board of Supervisors (2004) 124
Cal.App.4th 504, 512–513

II. The Speech Criminalized by Section 2076 Is Pure Speech About Important Public Facts. CCR section 2076 Unconstitutionally Criminalizes Dissemination of Public Information

CCR section 2076 prohibits the communication of "(a) The existence of a criminal complaint; (b) The fact of an arrest; or (c) The fact that an arrest of any person is impending or contemplated. (d) Any information pertaining to the matters set forth in (a) to (c) hereof or the persons involved therein" Factual communications regarding the State's arrest and detention of persons are public information that the State is required to publish.

The California Constitution protects access to public records. "The People have the right of access to information concerning the conduct of the People's business, and, therefore, the meetings of public bodies and the writings of public officials and agencies shall be open to public scrutiny."(2) A statute, court rule, or other authority, including those in effect on the effective date of this subdivision, shall be broadly construed if it furthers the people's right of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access. A statute, court rule, or other authority adopted after the effective date of this subdivision that limits the right of access shall be adopted with findings demonstrating the interest protected by the limitation and the need for protecting that

interest." Sunshine Amendment, Cal. Const. Art. I, § 3(b) California Public Records Act ("CPRA"), Cal. Gov't. Code §§ 6250 through 6276.48,

A police blotter is a public record as to information that is expressly stated to be subject to disclosure in the statute. Cal. Gov't Code § 6254(f)(1), (2) and (3). Specified facts from investigatory or security records, without disclosure of the records themselves, must be disclosed unless disclosure would endanger the successful completion of an investigation, or related investigation, or endanger a person involved in the investigation. Cal. Gov't Code §§ 6254(f)(1), (f)(2) and (f)(3). For arrests, the agency must disclose such facts as the name, occupation and detailed physical description of every individual arrested by the agency, as well as the time and date of arrest, the time and date of booking, the location of the arrest, the factual circumstances surrounding the arrest, the amount of bail set, the time and manner of release or the location where the individual is currently being held, and all charges the individual is being held upon, including any outstanding warrants from other jurisdictions and parole or probation holds. Cal. Gov't Code § 6254(f)(1). Serna v. Superior Court (1985) 40 Cal.3d 239, 260

Further the Serna Court noted that The Attorney General "expressed his view that local officials may publish in a newspaper the names of persons for whom warrants of arrest have been issued for the purpose of obtaining public assistance in locating them. He reasons that the information that a warrant has been issued is a "public fact." (67 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. No. 83–906, Oct. 11, 1984.)" Serna v. Superior Court (1985) 40 Cal.3d 239, 260

"In support of its suggestion that factual information qualifies as protected speech, the high court in Sorrell cited *Rubin v. Coors Brewing Co.* (1995) 514 U.S. 476, 115 S.Ct. 1585, 131 L.Ed.2d 532(Rubin), which invalidated a federal regulation banning disclosure of alcohol content on beer labels. (See Sorrell, supra, 564 U.S. at p. ——, 131 S.Ct. at p. 2667.) In Rubin, there was no dispute that the brewing company sought "to disclose only truthful, verifiable, and non-misleading factual information about alcohol content on its beer labels." (*Id.* at pp. 483, 115 S.Ct. 1585.) The high court concluded that the factual information about alcohol content was protected commercial speech and that restrictions on such speech require substantial justification, which the government in that case failed to provide. (*Id.* at pp. 481–486, 115 S.Ct. 1585.)" *Beeman v. Anthem Prescription Mgmt., LLC* (2013) 165 Cal.Rptr.3d 800.

In 1984 the California Attorney General was asked whether law enforcement could distribute the names of those subject to arrest for failure to pay child support. In attorney general opinion number 83–9061984 than Attorney General John van de Kamp relied upon the public nature of "The fact that a person is subject to a warrant of arrest is a public fact..." @p. 9. The public itself has the right to know and who the government has arrested, and where such persons are being detained. The potential for abuse by governmental powers implied by non-public arrests needs no citation, The history of secret detentions or "non-public" arrests (AOB 16, 35, 61) is rife with abuse. California's specifically protects the disclosure of such public facts as newsworthy.

(Coverstone v Davies (19__) 38 Cal.2d 315, 323 Firth v. Associated Press (E.D.S.C.,1959) 176 F.Supp. 671)" *Kapellas v. Kidman* (1969) 1 Cal.3d 20.

In order to justify the speech restrictions imposed by section 2076, the People rely on several inaccurate characterizations of the necessary elements of Section 2076. First the People allege that 2076 prevents "insider tipping arrangements" similar to insider trading [AOB 51]. However, insider tipping theories necessarily relate to the transmission of confidential or non-public information.

In the context of insider trading in the stock market the United States supreme Court explained that the basis for finding liability of the "tipee" is that the receiver of confidential information is 'participating in the insider's breach of his fiduciary duty" Dirks v. Sec. & Exch. Comm'n (1983) 463 U.S. 646, fn 20 ["Other authorities likewise have expressed the view that tippee liability exists only where there has been a breach of trust by an insider of which the tippee had knowledge. See, e.g., Ross v. Licht (SDNY 1967) 263 F.Supp. 395, 410; A. Jacobs, The Impact of Rule 10b-5, § 167, p. 7–4 (rev. ed. 1980) ("[T]he better view is that a tipper must know or have reason to know the information is nonpublic and was improperly obtained"); Fleischer, Mundheim, Murphy, An Initial Inquiry Into the Responsibility to Disclose Market Information, 121 U. Pa. L. Rev. 798, 818, n. 76 (1973) ("The extension of rule 10b-5 restrictions to tippees of corporate insiders can best be justified on the theory that they are participating in the insider's breach of his fiduciary duty"). Cf. Restatement (Second) of Agency § 312, Comment c (1958) ("A person who, with notice that an agent is thereby

violating his duty to his principal, receives confidential information from the agent, may be [deemed] . . . a constructive trustee")."]

The fallacy of the People's approach is that there is no period of time identified where an arrest and detention of a person is non-public. The arrest and detention of a person is a public act. There has been no showing in the record below that the information regarding the arrest of the defendant was a non-public event. Indeed, as the People concede California law requires the publication of arrest information and once an inmate is in custody State has a duty to publicly release such information.

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